### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

### NO. 2006-CA-00641

JAMES C. P. HARTMAN, Deceased

**APPELLANT** 

V.

NED G. MCINNIS, JR.

**APPELLEE** 

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF FORREST COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI HONORABLE SEBE DALE, JR., CHANCERY JUDGE

### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

# \*ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED\*

W. WAYNE DRINKWATER (MBN CLARENCE WEBSTER, III (MBN BRADLEY ARANT ROSE & WHITE LLP Suite 450, One Jackson Place 188 East Capitol Street Post Office Box 1789 Jackson, MS 39215-1789 Telephone: (601) 948-8000

Facsimile: (601) 948-3000

Robin L. Roberts, Esq. Post Office Box 1953 Hattiesburg, MS 39403-1953

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether appellees Ned and Mary Deane McInnis have standing to sue on a note and deed of trust they unconditionally assigned to BancorpSouth.
- 2. As the holder of two mortgages on properties, whether BancorpSouth's purchase of the properties at a foreclosure sale on the second mortgage extinguished the mortgagor's liability under the first mortgage.
- 3. Whether BancorpSouth's failure to prove the fair market value of the properties it purchased at its own foreclosure sale defeats its claim for a deficiency allegedly arising out of that foreclosure.
- 4. Whether the McInnises may nevertheless recover a judgment from Hartman to compensate them for liabilities that have been extinguished.
- 5. Whether the McInnises are entitled to an attorney's fee award of \$112,500.00 where the only evidence was that they incurred \$22,074.00 in attorney's fees and expenses, and where the McInnises presented no evidence concerning the reasonableness of any such award.
- 6. Whether the McInnises may avoid liability for material misrepresentations they made to Hartman by claiming that Hartman negligently failed to discover those misrepresentations.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>1</sup>

#### A. Introduction

In November 2003, appellees Ned and Mary Deane McInnis (the "McInnises") sold low income rental properties to appellant James C. P. Hartman<sup>2</sup> ("Hartman") and Ronson Construction Systems, Inc. ("Ronson Construction"), taking back a wrap-around promissory note and deed of trust which the McInnises assigned to BancorpSouth ("the Bank"). Hartman personally guaranteed the note.

After closing, Ronson Construction and Hartman learned that the McInnises had misrepresented both the condition of the properties and the rental income that they produced. Ronson Construction ceased payment on the note after four months of failed attempts to generate enough rental income from the properties to pay the note's monthly payments. The Bank then foreclosed, buying and retaining the properties at the foreclosure sale. The McInnises brought this action against Hartman, Ronson Construction, and the Bank in the Chancery Court of Forrest County (Dale, J.), seeking recovery for nonpayment of the note and various torts.

Even though the McInnises had assigned the note to the Bank and therefore had no right to sue for its nonpayment, the chancery court awarded the McInnises a judgment of \$582,218.49 on the note against Hartman and Ronson Construction, which included \$112,500.00 in attorney's fees. The chancery court rejected Hartman's misrepresentation defenses, even though the uncontradicted evidence showed that Hartman had entered into the transaction in reliance on the McInnises' materially false representations. The chancery court held that Hartman should have discovered the true condition of the properties and their rental income prior to closing.

The Clerk's Papers are cited as "R.\_\_." The Trial Transcript is cited as "Tr.\_.." The Record Excerpts are cited as "R.E. ." Trial Exhibits are cited as "Ex. ."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> After entry of the judgment below, Hartman died in an airplane crash on July 19, 2006. His widow, Amanda Hartman, pursues this appeal on his behalf.

The undisputed proof also showed that there was no deficiency after foreclosure to support a judgment against Hartman in any amount. Moreover, the only evidence on attorney's fees was that the McInnises incurred \$22,074.00 in fees and expenses, not \$112,500.00.

In sum, the chancery court awarded the McInnises \$582,218.49 on a claim they did not own, in compensation for losses they did not sustain, on a contract which the McInnises induced Hartman to enter through material misrepresentations. The judgment below must be reversed.

### B. Proceedings Below

The McInnises brought this action against Ronson Construction and Ronson Properties, LLC (collectively "Ronson"), Ron Nelson, Hartman, and the Bank, alleging claims of breach of contract, intentional interference with business relations, breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing, and fraudulent inducement. R. 33-44.

The Bank counterclaimed, seeking judicial foreclosure on the McInnises' senior deeds of trust securing fourteen parcels of land (the "Ronson Properties"). The Bank also cross-claimed against Ronson, Nelson, and Hartman on the November 14, 2003 wrap-around note (the "Note") and accompanying junior deed of trust which secured the Ronson Properties. R. 80-112.

During the litigation, the Bank foreclosed. But rather than foreclosing on the *senior* deeds of trust that the McInnises had given on the Ronson Properties, the Bank chose to foreclose on the wrap-around Note and junior deed of trust, thus making any purchase at the foreclosure sale subject to the senior deeds of trust. This stratagem made bids by others practically impossible, and the Bank purchased the Ronson Properties at foreclosure at a price that had no demonstrable relation to their value.

After foreclosure, the Bank sued the McInnises for an alleged deficiency on the senior notes and deeds of trust, and cross-claimed against Ronson, Nelson, and Hartman for an alleged deficiency on the Note. R.119-130.

Hartman counterclaimed against the McInnises for fraudulent and negligent misrepresentations, and cross-claimed against the Bank, alleging fraudulent inducement, misrepresentation, and breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing claims. R.273-302. Hartman defended the McInnises' suit by asserting that the McInnises did not own the Note on which they sued, that their claims were barred by their own intentional or negligent misrepresentations, and that the McInnises had suffered no losses.

On January 6, 2006, after a three-day bench trial, the chancery court issued its Memorandum Opinion. R.E. 28-38. In it, the court awarded the McInnises judgment against Ronson, Nelson, and Hartman for \$582,218.49, which consisted of \$450,209.49 on the Note, accrued interest of \$19,509.00, and \$112,500.00 in attorney's fees. *Id.* at 33. The chancery court rejected all of Hartman's defenses against the McInnises, holding that Hartman had failed to exercise due diligence to discover the underlying facts. *Id.* at 34. Finally, the chancery court denied all parties' claims for tort damages. *Id.* at 37.

Considering the Bank's deficiency claim, the chancery court held that settled Mississippi law provided that the Bank's foreclosure of the subordinate wrap-around deed of trust had merged and extinguished the McInnises' debt to the Bank under the senior deeds of trust. R.E. 31. The chancery court also held that the low bid price and the Bank's retention of the Ronson Properties without appraisal made it impossible to determine the fair market value of the properties, and therefore whether any deficiency existed after foreclosure. R.E. 32. The chancery court found that "as a matter of equity [the Bank] should be precluded by the Court from . . . obtaining judgment against McInnis for a deficiency not determined with certainty and for attorneys fees and costs." *Id.* at 33. For the same reason, the court dismissed the Bank's cross-claim against Ronson, Nelson, and Hartman, holding that the Bank "cannot be permitted to escape the consequence of having been barred as to [the makers of that claimed debt] and yet

collect it from the guarantors, i.e., the bar as to the makers inures to the benefit of the guarantors." *Id.* at 35.

Hartman timely appealed the final judgment and subsequent post-trial orders. R. 731-72.

# C. Factual Background

# 1. The McInnises are desperate to sell; Hartman and Ronson are interested in buying.

The McInnises became involved in rental property in the 1990s. Tr. 204. At one point, they owned 67 rental units, *id.*, many of which were purchased through loans with the Bank. Tr. 49. As time passed, Mr. McInnis failed to maintain the properties, which fell into disrepair, Tr. 206, and the McInnises' financial condition worsened to the point that they were unable to make timely payments to the Bank on their loans. Tr. 219; 22-23.

By November 2003, all of the McInnises' loans to the Bank were delinquent. Tr. 251. In addition, the McInnises had failed to pay *ad valorem* taxes on the properties, and the Bank had purchased them (subject to redemption) at an August 2003 tax sale. *Id.* The McInnises were desperate to sell these properties so that they could reduce or eliminate their debt to the Bank. *See* Tr. 140-141.

Hartman gave the McInnises that opportunity. After moving to Mississippi in 1998 from California where he had been involved in a number of business enterprises and real estate transactions, Hartman entered the Hattiesburg real estate market. Tr. 58-60. Hartman bought property on Dabbs Street, a street on which the McInnises also owned property. Tr. 99-101. The McInnises' property was substandard for the neighborhood, and Hartman thought that it depressed the value of his nearby properties. Tr. 77. Hartman wanted to buy and improve the McInnises' Dabbs Street property, thereby increasing the value of surrounding properties. Tr. 77; 99-101. Hartman was never interested in the Ronson Properties, which were fourteen of the eighteen rental properties that the McInnises owned. Tr. 108. For their part, the McInnises did

not wish to sell Hartman the Dabbs Street property unless Hartman also relieved the McInnises of the Ronson Properties, *see* Tr. 152-53, which were a source of their insupportable debts to the Bank.

About this time, Nelson expressed an interest that brought him into the discussions. Nelson, who had been in the drywall and painting business and had helped Hartman repair older homes, Tr. 165; 167, asked Hartman to locate rental property that Nelson could buy without making a down payment. Tr. 168. Nelson's financial condition was poor: he had few assets and a tax lien was pending against him. Tr. 167. He was looking for rental property that would give him an income stream.

Hartman brokered a transaction that would allow Nelson to purchase the Ronson

Properties from the McInnises without a down payment. Tr. 16. Hartman knew that Nelson's

financial condition was poor, and that no seller or lender would approve a transaction that

depended on Nelson's credit. Hartman also knew that if there was to be a deal, Hartman would

have to assume the entire financial risk; Nelson had nothing to contribute except his own

physical effort and management. Tr. 172; 199. It was therefore obvious to everyone that any

sale would work only if the Ronson Properties generated sufficient rental income to allow

Nelson to make loan payments on the property, with some funds left over for cash flow purposes.

2. Hartman and Nelson rely on the McInnises' representations about the condition of the Ronson Properties and the rental income they produced.

In evaluating the Ronson Properties, Hartman asked the McInnises for relevant documents. In response, Ned McInnis gave Hartman a schedule of all rented, vacant, and rentable units within the Ronson Properties, a description of all repairs needed to make the unrentable units marketable, a typed overview of the McInnises' prospects for the Ronson

Properties, and a list of the outstanding loans on the properties. Tr. 82; 115; 183; 210. This information was memorialized in a matrix. R.E. 86-96.

Mr. McInnis also represented to Hartman that the monthly rents collected on the Ronson Properties totaled at least \$8,760.00-\$9,000.00. Tr. 98; 99; 122-23. Mr. McInnis's representations were critical to Hartman's decision to go forward with the transaction. *See* Tr. 137; 191; 197; 78. Instead of seeking an independent appraisal and inspection of the Ronson properties, Hartman and Nelson looked at the exterior of some of the properties, *see* Tr. 65-57, relying entirely on the information provided by the McInnises. Tr. 78; 201.

On November 6, 2003, Hartman and the McInnises reached an agreement for the sale of eighteen parcels. Tr. 142. The parties agreed that four of the properties would be sold for cash to finance the sale of the remaining fourteen. *Id.* These fourteen – the Ronson Properties – were purchased by Ronson Construction, *id*; R.E. 44-50, Nelson's wholly-owned corporation. Tr. 180.

3. On the Bank's suggestion, Hartman and Ronson Construction use a wrap-around note and deed of trust to purchase the Ronson Properties.

Under the November 6 agreement, Hartman bought eighteen properties for a total price of \$960,000.00.<sup>3</sup> At closing, Hartman tendered \$270,037.95 to the McInnises in partial payment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Ronson Properties included the following Parcels 1-14:

Parcel 1: 806 Arledge (Units A-D), Hattiesburg, Forrest County, Mississippi Parcel 2: 525 Bushman (Units A-B), Hattiesburg, Forrest County, Mississippi

Parcel 3: 209 Mable, Hattiesburg, Forrest County, Mississippi

Parcel 4: 107 E. 4th Street (Units A-D + Shop), Hattiesburg, Forrest County, Mississippi

Parcel 5: 325 W. 4th St (Units A-D), Hattiesburg, Forrest County, Mississippi

Parcel 6: 1005 Mamie, Hattiesburg, Forrest County, Mississippi

Parcel 7: 1012 Elizabeth Ave., Hattiesburg, Forrest County, Mississippi

Parcel 8: 120 Saucier, Hattiesburg, Forrest County, Mississippi

Parcel 9: 316 Florence (Units 1-4), Hattiesburg, Forrest County, Mississippi Parcel 10: 318 Florence (Units 1-4), Hattiesburg, Forrest County, Mississippi

Parcel 11: 425 MLK Ave. (Units A-D), Hattiesburg, Forrest County, Mississippi

Parcel 12: 1413 Julian (Units A-D + 1/4 city block lot), Laurel, Jones County, Mississippi

Parcel 13: 122 Kingston (Units A-C + vacant lot), Laurel, Jones County, Mississippi

Tr. 110. This cash was produced by Hartman's simultaneous sale of parcels 17 and 18 to Coolhart Properties, a company that he owned jointly with Ken Cooley; and the sale of Parcels 15 and 16 to Dave Ware. Tr. 110-11. These four properties were sold free and clear of all debts. Tr. 76.

The fourteen Ronson Properties were conveyed to Ronson Construction. Tr. 145. There were existing deeds of trust on all of these properties executed by the McInnises in favor of the Bank, with an aggregate outstanding balance of approximately \$460,000.00. R.E. 97. Rather than having these deeds of trust satisfied, and new mortgages issued, the Bank requested that the parties use a "wrap-around" deed of trust and note. These wrap-around instruments were subordinate to the McInnises' existing deeds of trust to the Bank. Tr. 12-14; 50. Because the wrap-around feature was critical to the transaction, and is essential to understanding important issues on the appeal, a brief explanation about this device is in order.

A "wrap-around" mortgage is a second or junior mortgage that has a face amount that reflects both the amount it secures and the balance due under the first mortgage. The mortgagee under the wrap-around collects payments based on the wrap-around's face amount, then pays the first mortgage out of those payments. As our Court of Appeals has described it, "[a] 'wrap-around' mortgage involves an existing loan and a new one. 'The wrap-around borrower [Ronson Construction here] must make payments on the first mortgage debt to the wrap-around lender [the McInnises], who, as required by the wrap-around agreement, must in turn make payments to

The four properties that were to be sold separately included Parcels 15-18:

Parcel 15: 416 Dabbs St. (Units A-B), Hattiesburg, Forrest County, Mississippi

Parcel 16: 402 Southern Ave, Hattiesburg, Forrest County, Mississippi

Parcel 17: 112 2<sup>nd</sup> Ave. (Units 1-8), Hattiesburg, Forrest County, Mississippi (also known as "The

Maynard")

Parcel 18: Gadsby Rd Property (Lots 1-5), Petal, Forrest County, Mississippi (also known as "Oak Tara").

R.E. 56-59

the first mortgage to the third party, the first mortgagee [the Bank]." *Brown v. Thomas*, 757. So. 2d 1091, 1095 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (citing George E. Osborne, Grant S. Nelson, and Dale A. Whitman, Real Estate Finance Law § 5, 16 (1979). Thus, a critical feature of the Note and wrap-around deed of trust is that its face amount included the balance of deeds of trust already in place on the Ronson Properties.

The Note was executed by Ronson Construction in favor of the McInnises. It had an 8.5 year amortization, with a balloon after five years. R.E. 51-61. Hartman was required to personally guarantee the Note. On its face, the Note was in the amount of \$664,683.90, but since approximately \$460,000.00 of this sum was devoted to retiring the existing debt owed by the McInnises on the Ronson properties, the Note constituted only about \$204,000.00 in additional debt.

# 4. The transaction benefits the Bank and the McInnises, while Hartman takes all the risk.

After closing on November 14, 2003, and as the Bank required, the McInnises assigned their interest in the Note and wrap-around deed of trust to the Bank. This assignment gave the Bank full ownership of everything: the Note and wrap-around mortgage, as well as the first deeds of trust and notes signed by the McInnises. Tr. 19; 24; R.E. 60-61.

Thus, when the transaction closed, the Bank held a first mortgage on the Ronson Properties on which the McInnises were personally indebted and, through assignment, the Note and wrap-around deed of trust on which Hartman, Nelson, and Ronson Construction were liable. Also at closing, the Bank received cash which paid off existing loans on Parcels 16 and 18 and brought current the McInnises' other loans. Ex. 31; R.E. 46-48. Still other funds generated by the closing were used to pay *ad valorem* taxes on the properties, R.E. 4-6, which also benefited the Bank.

The use of the wrap-around thus allowed the Bank to bring current all of its loans to the McInnises, and paid past-due taxes on the properties. Importantly, the transaction added Hartman as a personal guaranter of \$664,000.00 in debt to the Bank.

The McInnises got what they wanted. Their indebtedness to the Bank was satisfied, and they received \$35,000.00 in cash. Tr. 140. Hartman, who became personally liable for the entire risk of this transaction, received \$33,000.00 for his work in brokering the transaction. Tr. 157-58. Hartman had no ownership interest in any of the Ronson Properties. Although he had guaranteed the debt, he did not stand to profit from their management or income. Any profit Hartman was to earn would have to come from Parcels 17 and 18.

After closing, Hartman formed Ronson Properties, LLC, for Nelson. Tr. 70. Ronson Constructions then transferred the Ronson Properties to Ronson Properties, LLC. Id. Hartman was the registered agent for Ronson Properties, LLC, but had no ownership interest in either the LLC or in Ronson Construction. Tr. 72.

# 5. The McInnises' representations prove false.

Once the transaction closed, Nelson began managing the Ronson Properties, collecting rent, improving vacant units, and seeking new tenants. He soon learned that the properties had

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Hartman testified that he formed the LLC because "[when] I started doing Nelson's books, I realized that I'm trying to do books for a corporation that I don't know what this corporation owns other than these fourteen properties that it just bought. I asked if we could do something and form a separate entity and put those fourteen properties in there and it would be a wholly owned entity of Ronson Construction Systems, Inc." Tr. 70.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In light of these undisputed facts, and Hartman's substantial potential liability, the chancery court's description of this transaction is impossible to understand. For example, the chancery court believed that "Hartman had maneuvered himself in the position of maximum authority and benefit with minimum responsibility . . ." R.E. 30. The chancery court characterized Hartman's conduct as follows: "[He] simply chose to move ahead with a transaction that he evaluated as a 'juicy plum,' utilizing a somewhat inexperienced 'straw man,' Nelson who he, Hartman, sold a 'bill of goods' and left 'holding the bag' while he, Hartman reaped a substantial personal benefit." Finally, according to the chancery court, "Hartman saw an opportunity for quick turn of a profit without undertaking the financial and physical burden of collecting rents, repairing and maintaining rental properties, and without personal obligation for the payment of debts already existing and assumed plus that created by his somewhat convoluted plan." R.E. 36-37.

These statements reflect a complete misunderstanding of the economic reality of the situation. Hartman certainly sought a profit, but only at an enormous risk, which he took in reliance on the McInnises' representations.

significant structural, plumbing, and appliance defects that the McInnises had not disclosed. Tr. 213. Stoves and refrigerators did not work. Tr. 123. Numerous electrical, plumbing and gas problems were discovered, Tr. 184, most of which the McInnises had not included in their complete listing of property defects. Tr. 186; 189.

As a result of these and other problems, many tenants were angry. They demanded that repairs be made. Some refused to pay rent, complaining about unaddressed problems with the units. Tr. 185-86; 188.

The issues with the properties did not suddenly arise at closing; they were problems of which the McInnises were aware. In large part, these were problems that Mr. McInnis chose not to include in the documents provided to Hartman and Nelson. Tr. 85; 188; 189.<sup>7</sup> Mr. McInnis failed to disclose both the poor condition of the properties and the shortfall in rental payments, because he knew that if he did, the transaction would fail. The condition of the units made it virtually impossible for Nelson to find new tenants. Tr. 187. Most prospective tenants were put off by the properties' condition. *Id*.

At closing, Hartman loaned Ronson \$40,000.00 to assist in the management and repair of the Ronson Properties. Tr.87.8 Nelson did his best, working hard to make repairs, rent vacant units, and collect rent. *See* Tr. 175. He spent more than forty hours each week simply trying to collect rent from dissatisfied tenants. Tr. 190; *see also* 91; Tr. 93; Ex. 36. Despite his best efforts, Nelson was able to improve only three vacant apartments and acquire three new tenants. Tr. 175-77. During the same period, he lost two or three tenants. Tr. 177.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> For an eloquent and moving description of the unexpected difficulties that Nelson and Hartman encountered with the properties, see Ex. 36, which is a chronological collection of emails detailing the almost unbelievable problems the properties presented.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The problems themselves were a result of Mr. McInnis's failure to maintain the properties and meet his obligations to the Bank. He was in a desperate financial condition in part because his tenants had refused to pay him, just as they later refused to pay Ronson.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Hartman's loan investment thus exceeded the \$33,000.00 he made on the transaction as a brokerage fee. See Tr. 157-58.

Not only were the Ronson Properties in deplorable condition; they never generated the rents that the McInnises had promised. Rather than the \$9,000.00 per month represented by the McInnises, Nelson collected less than \$5,000.00 in rent each month. Tr. 132. Hartman continued to invest personal funds into the venture, making other loans to help Nelson manage and improve the properties. Tr. 190. Nevertheless, Nelson was unable to manage the Ronson Properties successfully. He abandoned the effort in March 2004. Tr. 87; 95.

After Nelson left, Hartman was faced with the reality of his personal guaranty. Hartman contributed even more money, hired a property manager, and tried to meet with Mr. McInnis to discuss rent collection efforts; however, Hartman was not able to raise enough money to make payments on the wrap-around note. Tr. 134; 146.

The proof at trial was uncontradicted that neither Hartman nor Nelson would have participated in this transaction had either known the actual condition of the Ronson Properties or the rental income that the properties produced. Tr. 137; 191. The information provided by the McInnises – on which both Hartman and Nelson relied – was materially and knowingly inaccurate. Tr. 191; 63.

### 6. The Bank performs a creative foreclosure.

In the spring of 2004, the Note went into default. The McInnises brought the present action against Ronson, Nelson, Hartman, and the Bank. Although the Bank counterclaimed, seeking judicial foreclosure on the McInnises' deeds of trust and the Note, foreclosure did not occurred until May 3, 2005, almost 15 months later. R. 318-21; <sup>9</sup> see R.E. 62-65 (foreclosing on the McInnises' senior deed of trust); R.E. 66-81 (foreclosing on the Note); see also Tr. 361-63. As the owner of both instruments, the Bank had complete control over this decision.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Because one purpose of a wrap-around is to provide funds with which to pay a senior deed of trust, a default on the wrap-around can be expected to trigger a default on the first mortgage to which the wrap-around is subordinate. That was the case here.

At the foreclosure sale, the Bank announced that it was foreclosing on the wrap-around mortgage, not on the McInnises' deeds of trust, Tr. 328-29, and that any purchase of the Ronson Properties would be subject to those senior deeds of trust. Tr. 328-29; 362-63. This announcement made it virtually impossible for any third party to make a competitive bid, and there were no other bidders. The Bank purchased the Ronson Properties for an aggregate bid of \$199,900.00. R.E. 97.

At the time of foreclosure, the aggregate balance on the McInnises' deeds of trust was \$456,169.05. R.E. 97; Tr. 367. The total balance on the subordinate, wrap-around deed of trust was \$650,109.49, a sum which of course *included* the outstanding debt on the first deeds of trust. R.E. 102-03. On May 4, 2005, after foreclosure had occurred, Hartman mailed two checks to the Bank, one for \$2,200.00, representing rents received from tenants, and the other for \$2,099.16, representing the remainder of Ronson's operating account. Tr. 392. These funds were applied to the outstanding balance on the Ronson account.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A. <u>Immediately after closing, the McInnises unconditionally assigned their entire</u> interest in the Note and wrap-around deed of trust to the Bank.

The assignment divested the McInnises of their legal interest in these instruments. After the assignment, they possessed nothing on which to sue, and accordingly, they have no right to bring an action on the Note.

The parties honored the assignment, which was enforceable according to its terms.

Payments on the Note were made to the Bank. When payments stopped, the Bank foreclosed, not the McInnises. The McInnises admit they made a valid assignment. Their lawyer admits that the McInnises have no power to sue on the Note or deed of trust.

Because the sole basis for the judgment is the Note, that judgment must be reversed.

- B. The debt on which the McInnises sued was extinguished by operation of law.
- 1. The Bank owed both mortgages on the Ronson Properties, but foreclosed only on the junior mortgage executed by Ronson Construction and guaranteed by Hartman. The Bank then bought the property at foreclosure. These actions extinguished the McInnises' liability as mortgagors. This is so because a mortgagor has an equitable right to have the land pay the mortgage before he may be called on personally. Where the purchaser of property at foreclosure also owns the mortgage, he owns the asset which ought to discharge the debt. As between himself and the mortgagor, he cannot retain the property and at the same time say it is insufficient to satisfy the debt.

The economic basis for this rule is that it is presumed that the purchaser of land subject to a first mortgage has deducted the amount of that mortgage from the value of the property when he bid at foreclosure. Having acquired the property at a price that was reduced by the amount of the first mortgage, he cannot retain that property and simultaneously sue the mortgagor for the debt. The property stands in place of the debt and extinguishes it.

This principle applies here. At foreclosure, the Bank held both the McInnises' senior deeds of trust and, through assignment, the Note and wrap-around deed of trust. When the Bank foreclosed on the Note, and then bought the underlying properties at the sale, that purchase extinguished the McInnises' liability under their first notes and deeds of trust on the properties. The chancery court so ruled, discharging the McInnises from liability to the Bank.

2. The Bank's claims against the McInnises and Hartman are also barred by the Bank's failure to prove that a deficiency existed after the foreclosure. Prior to foreclosure, the Bank did not obtain an appraisal of the properties, nor did it conduct a commercially reasonable sale at which the Ronson Properties' value could be determined. Instead, the Bank retained the properties.

The Bank may not assert a deficiency without proof that a deficiency has occurred.

Mississippi requires the mortgagee to prove a deficiency through proof of the fair market value of the property purchased at foreclosure. Here, the Bank offered no such proof. Without it, the Bank has no right to recover.

The chancery court properly dismissed the Bank's claims against the McInnises and Hartman for these reasons, relieving the McInnises of liability to the Bank. This result bars the McInnises' claims against Hartman for nonpayment of the Note, because this ruling has placed the McInnises in the position they would have occupied had the Note been paid by Ronson Construction. As such, the McInnises have suffered no losses for which they are entitled to recovery from Hartman.

The final judgment entered by the chancery court placed the McInnises in a far better position than they would have occupied had the Note been paid. Today, they are discharged from liability to the Bank *and* they have a judgment of \$582,218.49 from Hartman. This is a windfall to which they are not entitled.

- C. <u>In the alternative, the chancery court miscalculated the McInnises' damages.</u>
- 1. The parties stipulated that the balance on the McInnises' senior deeds of trust was \$456,169.05. The balance on the Note was \$650,109.49. The foreclosure sale yielded \$199,900, which reduced the Note to \$450,209.49. Because the wrap-around Note *includes* the amount of the first deeds of trust, which were extinguished by the chancery court, the balance on those deeds of trust (\$456,169.05) must be subtracted from the balance on the Note (\$450,209.49) to determine the amount that Hartman and Ronson Construction actually owe under the Note. This calculation produces a surplus of \$5,959.56; thus, Ronson Construction and Hartman owe nothing under the Note. The McInnises have no losses.

- 2. The chancery court also erred in awarding the McInnises \$112,500.00 in attorney's fees. The only proof on this issue came through an invoice which showed that the McInnises had incurred attorneys' fees and expenses of \$22,074.00. No evidence was introduced as to the reasonableness of any attorney's fee award, according to the factors contained in Rule 1.5 of the Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct, and the chancery court made no such findings. The award was based on no evidence and was accompanied by no findings or analysis. The award amounted to a fee of \$821.00 per hour for the McInnises' counsel. This was clearly an abuse of discretion.
- D. The McInnises misrepresented to Hartman both the condition of the properties and the rental income those properties produced.

Hartman relied on these representations, which were material to the transaction. Without them, the sale would not have occurred.

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