IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-78-00641

BANCORPSOUTH BANK

FILEDAPPELLANT

V.

FEB 26 2007

NED G. MCINNIS, JR., MARY DEANE MCINNIS RON NELSON and JAMES C. P. HARTMAN, DECEASED AND RONSON CONSTRUCTION SYSTEMS, INC.

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT APPELLEES
COURT OF APPEALS APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF FORREST COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI HONORABLE SEBE DALE, JR., CHANCERY JUDGE

RESPONSE BRIEF OF APPELLEE, JAMES C. P. HARTMAN, DECEASED

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

INTRODUCTION

BancorpSouth Bank ("the Bank") seeks to have it both ways: to retain the property on which it foreclosed, together with the equity it contains, and simultaneously to recover from Hartman \$266,949.27, the principal amount that the McInnises continue to owe on the mortgages underlying the Note. Although Hartman has already demonstrated the lack of merit in this position in the Brief of Appellant at pages 12-13 and 20-25, we make this brief additional response. In support of its position, which would place the Bank in a better position than it would have occupied had the McInnises and Hartman made all payments due under the Note, the Bank relies solely on a single, much-criticized case from a foreign jurisdiction. The absence of Mississippi authority or accepted authority from *any* jurisdiction in support of its argument is powerful evidence that the Bank's argument has nothing to support it. In fact, not only is the Bank's position unsupported by credible law, it flies directly in the face of well-settled law from around the United States.

ARGUMENT

A. The Senior Note and Deed on the Ronson Properties Were Extinguished by the Foreclosure Sale.

The Bank does not challenge Hartman's well-supported argument that where the holder of both mortgages forecloses on the junior mortgage, "the mortgagor's personal liability for the debt secured by the first mortgage is extinguished." OSBORNE ON MORTGAGES § 274 (2d ed. 1970); see also 55 Am. Jur. 2D Mortgages § 1347 (2006). See Brief of Appellant, Hartman, at 21-24.

Instead, the Bank offers the much-maligned opinion of the Texas Supreme Court in Summers v. Consolidated Capital Special Trust, 783 S.W. 2d 580 (Tex. 1989). In pertinent part, and as correctly stated by the Bank, the Summers court determined that "a third party purchaser would have to satisfy the underlying indebtedness [of a foreclosed wrap-around mortgage] to

obtain clear title to the property following a successful bid at the foreclosure sale." Brief of Appellant, BancorpSouth, at 14-15. This holding is flatly wrong. It has never been endorsed, or followed, by any subsequent American court.

In fact, it is telling that even the legal commentators on whom the Bank relies have thoroughly savaged *Summers* as "bad law." *E.g.*, Frank A. St. Claire, *Wraparound Mortgage Problems in Nonjudicial Foreclosures*, 20 REAL EST. L.J. 221, 223 (1992) (cited by the Bank at page 14 of its Brief of Appellant). In fact, St. Claire calls the *Summers* opinion "a somewhat tortured use of logic to reach an equitable result." *Id.*

As others have noted, the chief problem with *Summers* is that it would provide a windfall to the Bank, or to any other mortgagee which forecloses under a similar wraparound mortgage. Bill B. Caraway, *Unwrapping the Wraparound Mortgage Foreclosure Process*, WASH. & LEE L. REV. 1025, 1042 (1990) (cited by the Bank at page 13 of its Brief of Appellant). As argued in Hartman's Appellant Brief, Caraway notes that the method endorsed by the Bank "allows the wraparound mortgagee to regain title to the property and sue the wrap-around mortgagor for any deficiency, or transform form the mortgagee's equity in the property into cash." *Id.* at 1040-41. Under the Bank's approach, "the wraparound mortgagee thus benefits more when a wraparound mortgagor defaults than when the wraparound mortgagor fully performs under the wraparound." *Id.* at 1041. This is obviously not the proper result, either in law or equity.

Where a mortgagee has acquired the property at a price that is reduced by the amount of the first mortgage, he cannot both retain the property, with the equity it contains, and simultaneously sue the mortgagor for the debt. The property stands in place of the debt and extinguishes it. *Bd. of Tr. of Gen. Ret. Sys. v. Ren-Cen Indoor Tennis & Racquet Club*, 377 N.W. 2d. 432, 434-35 (Mich. Ct. App. 1985).

The economic basis of the rule is plain. When the mortgagor buys the subject of his foreclosure sale,

it is presumed that the purchaser of land subject to a mortgage deducted the amount of the [first mortgage] from the market value of the land when he bought. The mortgagor therefore has an equitable right to have the land pay the mortgage before his personal liability is called upon and the purchaser will not be permitted to retain the land, go out and acquire the mortgage, and enforce the same against the mortgagor personally . . . It follows therefore that when the purchaser, retaining the land, acquires the prior debt, although he is not personally liable thereon, he is the owner of the res which ought to discharge the debt as between himself and the mortgagor and he will not be permitted to retain the res and at the same time to say it is insufficient to satisfy the debt.

Wright v. Anderson, 253 N.W. 484, 487 (S.D. 1935); accord 95 A.L.R. 89, 103-04 (The "purchase of the mortgaged property by the holder of junior and senior mortgages, on foreclosure of the junior mortgage held by him, extinguishes the mortgagor's personal liability for the debt secured by the first mortgage in the absence of an agreement to the contrary.").

The Bank's attempt to achieve this unfair result was correctly rejected by the chancery court below, and must be rejected here as well. The Bank cannot both retain the property, with the equity it contains, and simultaneously sue Hartman for the debt. The property stands in place of the debt and extinguishes it.

CONCLUSION

For all these reasons, the judgment of the Chancery Court of Forrest County as to the Bank's claims against Hartman should be affirmed.